IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENNETH BERBERICH,

Appellant,

v.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.; and MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 76457

District Court No. Electronically Filed Dec 14°2018 03:01 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXVI The Honorable Judge Gloria Sturman, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MICHAEL BEEDE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13068 JAMES W. FOX, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13122 THE LAW OFFICE OF MIKE BEEDE, PLLC 2470 St. Rose Pkwy, Suite 307 Henderson, Nevada 89074 Attorney for Appellant, Kenneth Berberich

ATTORNEY'S NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

- Whether an owner in possession of real property is ever time-barred from seeking quiet title under NRS 11.070 or NRS 11.080.
- Whether the grantee of a deed of trust against real property is time-barred from defending against a quiet title action 5 years after the grantor of the deed of trust has been dispossessed of the property under NRS 11.070 or NRS 11.080.
- Whether the statute of limitations alluded to in *Saticoy Bay LLC Series* 2021 Gray Eagle Way v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 388 P.3d 226, 232 (Nev. 2017) is non-controlling dicta.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of an declaratory relief action in Clark County, Nevada, and specifically, involves the question of whether a landowner who has never been dispossessed of real property in Nevada is ever time-barred from asserting the sale of the subject property, 8735 Mount Mira Loma Ave (hereafter, the "Property"), at an NRS 116 HOA foreclosure sale to Plaintiff/Appellant Berberich's, extinguished Defendant/Respondent Ditech's first deed of trust (hereafter, "Deed of Trust").

On January 31, 2018, Berberich filed his Complaint for Quiet Title, seeking to have the District Court declare that Berberich bought the property free and clear of all other liens and encumbrances. Appellant named Bank of America, NA, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.; and the Previous Owner, Connie Fernandez as Defendants in its Complaint. On April 16, 2018 BANA and MERS filed their Motion to Dismiss. Berberich filed his Opposition to Bank of America and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss and Countermotion for Summary Judgment on May 3, 2018. Following additional briefing, the competing motions came on for hearing on May 22, 2018. On that date The Honorable Judge Gloria Sturman held a hearing and granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, and denied Appellant's countermotion for summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 11, 2011, Appellant purchased the property located at 8735 Mount Mira Loma Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada. (APP0055) Appellant acquired this property at an HOA foreclosure sale conducted pursuant to NRS 116.3116. *Id.* All notices were appropriately recorded and mailed in accordance with the procedures set out in NRS 116.3116 for the foreclosure of a Homeowners Association Lien. Appellant remains in possession of the Property to date. Respondents allege that they hold an interest in the property by virtue of a Deed of Trust which they contend encumbers the property. The grantor of the deed of trust, Connie Fernandez, was dispossessed from the Property by Appellant's purchase on August 11, 2011.

Plaintiff purchased the Property at a public foreclosure auction on August 11, 2011, conducted by Allied Trustee Services. *Motion to Dismiss* (APP0030-APP0058) This Deed dispossessed Connie Fernandez (the "Previous Owner") of the Property. *Id*. The deed contained the following recitals:

This conveyance is made pursuant to the powers granted to VIA VALENCIA / VIA VENTURA HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION and conferred upon appointed trustee by the provisions of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions recorded 08-04-2005 as Intrument No. 0004194 Book 20050804 Page County of CLARK and pursuant to N.R.S. 117.070 et. Seq. or N.R.S. 116.3115 et. Seq. and N.R.S. 116.3116 through N.R.S. 116.31168 et. Seq. and that certain Notice of Delinquent Assessment dated 09-30-2010 and

recorded 10-06-2010 in Book 20101006 Page as Instrument No. 0002672 of Official Records of CLARK County, Nevada.

The Name of the owner(s) of the property (trustor) was CONNIE FERNANDEZ.

Default occurred as set forth in a Notice of Default and Election to Sell which was recorded in the office of the Reorder of said County. After expiration of ninety (90) days from the recording or mailing of copies of the Notice of Default and Election to Sell, a Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Said County and the association claimant, VIA VALENCIA / VIA VENTURA HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, demanded that such sale be made.

All requirements of law regarding the recording and the mailing of copies of the Notice of Delinquent Assessment, Notice of Default, and the recording, mailing, posting and publication of copies of the Notice of Trustee's Sale have been complied with.

Said property was sold by said Trustee at public auction on 08-11-2011 at the place named in the Notice of Trustee's Sale, in the County of CLARK, Nevada, in which the property is situated. Grantee, being the highest bidder at such sale became the purchaser of said property and paid therefore to said trustee the amount bid, being \$4,101.00, in lawful money of the United States, or by satisfaction, pro tanto of the obligations then secured by said Notice of Delinquent Assessment. *Id* (Emphasis in Original).

The Previous Owner granted a deed of trust in favor of Bank of America,

naming MERS as beneficiary, which was recorded as an encumbrance to the

Property on June 9, 2009, as instrument and book number 20090609-0004584. Id

at APP0036-APP0050. On November 15, 2011, an assignment of the

aforementioned Deed of Trust was recorded which purported to transfer the

beneficial interest thereof to Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP FKA Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, LP. *Id* at APP0052-APP053. A Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien claimed by the HOA, VIA VALENCIA / VIA VENTURA HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, which complies with NRS 116.31162, was recorded on October 6, 2010. (APP0092)

The Notice of Default and Election to Sell was recorded on November 9, 2010 and was mailed pursuant to NRS Chapter 116 to all parties entitled to receive notice. (APP0094-APP0095) A Notice of Trustee Sale was recorded on March 21, 2011 and was mailed to all required parties. (APP0097-APP0098).

Defendants claim an interest in the property by virtue of a Deed of Trust granted by Connie Fernandez on June 4, 2009. APP0055. More than five years have passed since Connie Fernandez was dispossessed from the property. *Id* at APP0055.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. MOTIONS TO DISMISS REVIEWED DE NOVO

The standard of review for a dismissal under NRCP 12 (b)(5) is rigorous as this court must construe the pleading liberally and draw every fair inference in favor of the nonmoving party. *Vacation Village v. Hitachi America*, 110 Nev. 481, 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994). All factual allegations of the complaint must be accepted as true. *Id*. A complaint will not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts which, if accepted by the trier of fact, would entitle him or her to relief. *Id*.

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim should not be granted, unless it appears beyond a doubt that plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of the claim. *See Buzz Stew*, *LLC*, 124 Nev. at 228, 181 P.3d at 672; *Stockmeier v. Nevada Dep't of Corr.*, 124 Nev. 313, 316, 183 P.3d 133, 135 (2008); *Pankopf v. Peterson*, 124 Nev. 43, 175 P.3d 910, 912 (2008). In *Buzz Stew*, the Nevada Supreme Court clearly stated that the appropriate standard for a motion to dismiss based on a failure to state a claim is "beyond a doubt" and not "beyond a reasonable doubt." 124 Nev. at 228 n.6, 181 P.3d at 672 n.6. All cases using the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard were expressly overruled.

When ruling on a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion, a court must accept the allegations of the complaint as true, and draw all inferences in favor of the non-moving party. *See Buzz Stew.* at 228, 181 P.3d at 672; *Seput v. Lacayo*, 122 Nev. 499, 501, 134 P.3d 733, 734 (2006) (abrogated on other grounds) *Stockmeier*, 124 Nev. at 316, 183 P.3d at 135; *Snyder v. Viani*, 110 Nev. 1339, 885 P.2d 610 (1994); *Haertel v. Sonshine Carpet Co.*, 102 Nev. 614, 730 P.2d 428 (1986). "'Dismissal is proper where the allegations are insufficient to establish the elements of a claim for relief.'"

Stockmeier, 124 Nev. at 316, 183 P.3d at 135 (*quoting Hampe v. Foote*, 118 Nev. 405, 408, 47 P.3d 438, 439 (2002)); *see Sanchez v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 125 Nev. 818, 823, 221 P.3d 1276, 1280 (2009) ("this court accepts the plaintiffs' factual allegations as true, but the allegations must be legally sufficient to constitute the elements of the claim asserted").

B. MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT REVIEWED DE NOVO

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). Summary judgment is only appropriate where "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, where it is quite clear what the truth is, that no genuine issue remains for trial, and that the purpose of the rule is not to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury." *Caughlin Ranch Homeowners Ass'n v. Caughlin Club,* 109 Nev. 264, 266, 849 P.2d 310, 311 (1993) (quoting *Short v. Hotel Riviera, Inc.,* 79 Nev. 94, 103, 378 P.2d 979, 984 (1963)).

When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *See Allstate*, 125 Nev. at 137, 206 P.3d at 575; <u>Waldman v. Maini</u>, 124 Nev. 1121, 1136, 195 P.3d 850, 860 (2008); The burden on the nonmoving party to "set forth specific facts [by affidavit or otherwise]

demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue for trial" only applies if the moving party has properly supported its motion for summary judgment as required by NRCP 56. *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731-32, 121 P.3d at 1031 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also* <u>Maine v. Stewart</u>, 109 Nev. 721, 727, 857 P.2d 755, 759 (1993).

C. ISSUES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION ARE REVIEWED DE NOVO

"[I]ssues of statutory construction are questions of law reviewed de novo." *Simmons v. Briones*, 133 Nev., Adv. Op. 9, 133 Nev. 9, 390 P.3d 641, 643 (2017). When the language of a statute is unambiguous, this court will give that language its plain and ordinary meaning and not go beyond it. *Id.* at 644. "A statute's express definition of a term controls the construction of that term no matter where the term appears in the statute." *Nev. Pub. Emps. Ret. Bd. v. Smith*, 129 Nev. 682, 627, 310 P.3d 560, 566 (2013)(quoting *Williams v. Clark County DA*, 118 Nev. 473, 485, 50 P.3d 536, 544 (2002)). *Delucchi v. Songer*, 396 P.3d 826, 831 (Nev. 2017)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

By applying the dicta set forth in *Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 388 P.3d 226, 232 (Nev. 2017), the district court adopted an unworkable standard for property owners and quiet title. When a landowner remains in possession of the property at issue, the statutes of limitations embodied in NRS 11.070 and NRS 11.080 cannot run against her. As a result, it is BANA's interest which should have been extinguished by operation of law in this case, and Appellant was entitled to summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>NRS 11.080 and NRS 11.070 Do Not Bar A Landowner In Possession</u> <u>From Seeking Declaratory Relief</u>

The interpretation and construction of NRS 11.070-80 is the central issue of this appeal. Specifically, Appellant asks this Court to decide whether NRS 11.070 and NRS 11.080 act as a time-bar to a property owner in possession of real property from seeking declaratory relief for quiet title. Appellant respectfully urges this Court to reaffirm the plain language meaning of the statutes, which makes clear that NRS 11.070 and NRS 11.080 (hereinafter collectively referred to as "The Statutes") only govern the claims of a litigant who has been "seized or possessed of the premises in question within 5 years..." before initiation of the action. As put by this Court in 1867, this the statute "imposes a general inability to sue or defend upon any right claimed in real estate, unless the party suing or defending shall have been in possession of the real estate within five years last past." *Chollar-Potosi Mining Co. v. Kennedy & Keating*, 3 Nev. 365, 369 (1867)

A. "Seized or Possessed" Means Fee Simple Ownership or Physical Possession

Put simply, any person who has been "seized or possessed" of the property in the five years preceding the initiation of the action is not time-barred from asserting its claims under NRS 11.070-80. As such, so long as plaintiff retains a fee-simple interest or physical control of real property, NRS 11.070 and 11.080 have no preclusive effect on his or her ability to bring suit to quiet title.

NRS 11.070 No cause of action effectual unless party or predecessor seized or possessed within 5 years. No cause of action or defense to an action, founded upon the title to real property, or to rents or to services out of the same, shall be effectual, unless it appears that the person prosecuting the action or making the defense, or under whose title the action is prosecuted or the defense is made, or the ancestor, predecessor, or grantor of such person, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within 5 years before the committing of the act in respect to which said action is prosecuted or defense made. (emphasis added)

NRS 11.080 Seisin within 5 years; when necessary in action for real property. No action for the recovery of real property, or for the recovery of the possession thereof other than mining claims, shall be maintained, unless it appears that the plaintiff or the plaintiff's ancestor, predecessor or grantor was seized or possessed of the premises in question, within 5 years before the commencement thereof. (emphasis added)

While there is no doubt that The Statutes are both designed to create a statute of

limitations for the institution or maintenance of an action, claim, or defense, the key

question presented here is against whom The Statutes are aimed. Whereas NRS

11.070 contemplates actions related to the title of real property, NRS 11.080 contemplates actions for the recovery of real property. While the subject matter of each of The Statutes is similar, they are not identical. The common threads between the Statutes is the phrase "was seized or possessed of the premises in question within 5 years before..."

The Statutes¹ have been in effect in Nevada in substantially the same form since before Nevada was awarded statehood in 1864.² As such, the language therein should be construed as it was understood at the time of authorship. The phrase "seized and possessed" was interpreted by this Court in 1894:

Section 3664 reads: 'No action for the recovery of real property, or for the recovery of the possession thereof other than mining claims, shall be maintained, unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question, within five years before the commencement thereof.'... We are not to suppose that any of these terms were needlessly used, or used without meaning; and, if not, the word "seized" means something different from simple possession If so, it must mean, as it would naturally import, an ownership in fee, for this is the only other kind of ownership known to the law.

South End Mining Co. v. Tinney, 22 Nev. 19, 35-36, 35 P. 89, 92 (1894)

¹ Then Codified as Section Gen. Stats., sec. 3632 and 3664

² See generally *South End Mining Co. v. Tinney*, 22 Nev. 19, 34, 35 P. 89, 92 (1894)

As is clear from *South End Mining*, "seized" means "ownership in fee" whereas to be "possessed of the premises" means to be in actual, physical possession or control. When employing the definition of these terms as previously adopted by this court more than 120 years ago, NRS 11.070 and NRS 11.080 can be easily interpreted:

NRS 11.070 No cause of action effectual unless party or predecessor seized or possessed within 5 years. No cause of action or defense to an action, founded upon the title to real property, or to rents or to services out of the same, shall be effectual, unless it appears that the person prosecuting the action or making the defense, or under whose title the action is prosecuted or the defense is made, or the ancestor, predecessor, or grantor of such person, [had a fee simple interest] or [was in possession] of the premises in question within 5 years before the committing of the act in respect to which said action is prosecuted or defense made.

NRS 11.080 Seisin within 5 years; when necessary in action for real property. No action for the recovery of real property, or for the recovery of the possession thereof other than mining claims, shall be maintained, unless it appears that the plaintiff or the plaintiff's ancestor, predecessor or grantor [had a fee simple interest] or [was in possession] of the premises in question, within 5 years before the commencement thereof.

Thus, the meaning of NRS 11.070 is that unless a person³ who has had fee

simple ownership or physical possession of real property within the preceding five

³ (Or the ancestor, predecessor, or grantor of such person)

years shall, that person shall not be permitted to bring or defend against an action founded upon title to real property. Similarly, the meaning of NRS 11.080 is that unless a person⁴ who has had fee simple ownership or physical possession of real property within the preceding five years, her or she shall not be permitted to bring an action for the possession or recovery of real property.

Neither statute contemplates an absolute time-bar to declaratory relief actions related to real property. To the contrary, so long as a person retains fee-simple ownership of property or is in physical possession thereof, his statute or limitations does not begin to run.

B. Appellant Has Never Been Dispossessed of the Property and Therefore NRS 11.070-080 Do Not Preclude His Claims

Appellant Berberich's claims were dismissed as a result of an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion brought by Respondents, Bank of America, NA and Mortgage Registration Systems, Inc. under the theory that he was time-barred by NRS 11.080. (APP0146-7) However, because it is undisputed that Berberich retains exclusive possession and fee-title to the property, no statute of limitations has ever begun to run against him. Thus, through this Court's de novo review of Respondents' Motion to Dismiss

⁴ (Or the ancestor, predecessor, or grantor of such person)

it can and should find that Berberich's claims were not time-barred by NRS 11.080 and that the order granting Respondent's motion to dismiss should be reversed.

C. Respondent's Grantor Under Its Deed of Trust Was Dispossessed More Than Five Years Prior to the Complaint, Time-Barring and Defense by Respondents

BANA and MERS have never been in possession, and as such NRS 11.080's statute of limitations began running against any affirmative claims by BANA or MERS in this litigation when their grantor, Connie Fernandez, was dispossessed on August 11, 2011 by the HOA's foreclosure sale. Pursuant to the express terms of NRS 11.080, Respondents are time-barred from maintaining a claim to recover possession of the property. NRS 11.070 further restricts Defendants from maintaining any defenses to Appellant's right to clear title, providing in relevant part:

The Nevada Supreme Court interpreting the identical predecessor to NRS 11.070 stated that the statute, "imposes a general inability to sue or defend upon any right claimed in real estate, unless the party suing or defending shall have been in possession of the real estate within five years last past." *Chollar-Potosi Mining Co. v. Kennedy & Keating*, 3 Nev. 365, 369 (1867). Here, Respondents' property interest was never possessory, the Deed of Trust only created a non-possessory

security interest in the Property. *See*, NRS 107.020. Defendants' grantor however enjoyed the possessory rights to the property until the foreclosure sale through which Plaintiff became owner of record. This foreclosure sale undisputedly occurred on August 11, 2011. Plaintiff has remained in continuous possession since the sale. As such Defendants could validly bring an action to recover the Property or defend against Plaintiff's interest until August 11, 2016 at the latest. Defendants are barred by NRS 11.070-80 from maintaining any defense to Berberich's claims.

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