IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENNETH BERBERICH,

Appellant,

VS.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.; and MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Mar 22 2019 06:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 76457

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXVI
The Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-18-768728-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
NATALIE L. WINSLOW, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12125
SCOTT R. LACHMAN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12016
AKERMAN LLP
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
Telephone: (702) 634-5000

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

claim upon which relief can be granted if a statute of limitations bars the action.

Bemis v. Estate of Bemis, 114 Nev. 1021, 1024, 967 P.2d 437, 439 (1998).

II. The District Court Correctly Applied NRS 11.080

The district court was right to dismiss the complaint; it was under two precedents holding the clock strikes on the buyer five years after the sale. The district court followed the law, and that law is entitled to deference in this court. Berberich incorrectly argues the portions of *Blaha* and *Gray Eagle* applying NRS 11.080 are erroneous *dicta*. Berberich misses the mark; finding the statute of limitation was five years under NRS 11.080 was not superfluous—it resolved issues actually present and in controversy. He also fails to account for *stare decisis*, which counsels against reversing precedents. As part of its affirmance, the court should reject Berberich's NRS 11.070 argument and hold there is no statute of limitations on the bank's potential claim under *City of Fernley*. NRS 11.070 is not an offensive statute of limitation, and adopting a three-year statute would require the court to misread NRS 11.090(3)(a), Chapter 116, and *Diamond Spur*.

A. Blaha and Gray Eagles' Discussions of NRS 11.080 are not Dicta

Blaha and Gray Eagle are on-point because the statute of limitations issues were actually and necessarily litigated. See St. James Village, Inc. v. Cunningham, 125 Nev. 211, 216, 210 P.3d 190, 193 (2009); Black's Law Dictionary 1100 (7th ed. 1999) (defining dictum as a statement in an opinion that is "unnecessary to the

decision in the case and therefore not precedential"). Berberich waived the argument that *Gray Eagle's* discussion of NRS 11.080 is *dictum* because he did not raise it below. *See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

The history of *Gray Eagle* shows the limitations issue was necessarily decided. In 2009, a homeowner filed a complaint against an HOA relating to a 14,349 square-foot property. *Gray Eagle*, 388 P.3d at 228. In 2013, a buyer purchased the property at an HOA foreclosure sale. *Id.* Rather than commence its own action, the buyer moved to intervene as a party in the 2009 lawsuit. *Id.* In 2015, the district court *sua sponte* issued a show cause order pursuant to NRCP 41(e), and ultimately dismissed both the homeowner's complaint and the investor's complaint with prejudice. *Id.* at 228-29.

On appeal, the court held mandatory dismissal under NRCP 41(e)'s five-year rule includes complaints in intervention despite argument the investor had been a party to the action for just over a year. *Id.* at 229. The court also said the district court erred in dismissing the complaint with prejudice. *Id.* at 230. There were two primary questions involved in *Gray Eagle*, both involving five-year rules. The first question was whether a complaint in intervention must be dismissed under NRCP 41(e)'s five-year rule. The second was whether the complaint in intervention must be dismissed under NRS 11.080's five-year rule if a subsequent action is brought. The court answered yes to the first question, making the second question necessary

to the decision in the case. Since the intervener had to file a new complaint, the statute of limitations was highly relevant—it is futile to file a new complaint if the new complaint is time-barred.

In making this ruling, the court answered a necessary question: whether the buyer's subsequent action was barred by NRS 11.080's five-year statute of limitation. *Id.* at 232. It would have been pointless to require dismissal without prejudice if the putative amended complaint is untimely. On the key issue of when the limitations period starts, the court said the sale itself triggers the limitation. This makes sense because the buyer knew at time there was a deed of trust and that the lender could have paid the superpriority lien before the foreclosure. These findings were central to the holding.

Several federal judges have cited *Gray Eagle* with approval multiple times, confirming its application of NRS 11.080 is not *dictum*. *See City of Oakland v. Desert Outdoor Advertising, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 533, 540, 267 P.3d 48, 52-53 (2011) (concluding a prior decision was not *dictum* because courts across the country recognize the viability of that decision). *Gray Eagle* is cited as authority in, among other cases, *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Lake Mead Court Homeowners' Ass'n*, 2019 WL 208864, at *3 (D. Nev. Jan. 15, 2019); *U.S. Bank N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 2018 WL 4566671, at *3 (D. Nev. Sept. 24, 2018); *Newlands Asset Holding Trust v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 2017 WL 5559956, at *3 (D. Nev. Sept. 17, 2017);

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 2017 WL 3317813, at *2 (D. Nev. Aug. 2, 2017).

B. The District Court Applied NRS 11.080 Correctly

Based on *Gray Eagle* and its progeny, Berberich had five years from the date of the HOA foreclosure sale—or until August 11, 2016—to file a declaratory relief action. Berberich, who has been in possession of the property since the sale, did not file the action until January 31, 2018. On appeal, Berberich says the statute of limitations does not start running against him until he loses title or possession to BANA's foreclosure. That runs counter to this court's interpretation in *Blaha* and *Gray Eagle*. The statutory text also does not support Berberich's interpretation.

In his opening brief, Berberich posits a hypothetical in which an owner enjoys quiet possession for seven years and then finds itself unable to sue to oust a trespasser. *See* Op. Br. at p. 24. The example gives away the argument, because it assumes "the County Recorder's Records indicate no recorded encumbrances." *Id.* Reality mars this hypothetical—in this case, there *is* a recorded encumbrance: the deed of trust. The deed of trust was recorded before Berberich took title, and has clouded his property from the beginning. According to Berberich, he gets to do nothing despite the known encumbrance. This stands in contrast to the hypothetical in his brief, which assumes all is good at the beginning. Berberich had a duty to act timely as soon as he acquired title subject to an encumbrance.

The statute commences the limitations period when the party bringing the action "was seized or possessed" the property. This refers to *acquisition* of the property rights, not merely the passive holding of title and possession. When the title holder's objective is to remove a pre-existing cloud, NRS 11.080 does not allow him to sit idly until he loses title. BANA's deed of trust has clouded Berberich's title from the outset, giving Berberich a reason to act.

If the court determines NRS 11.080 does not begin to run until Berberich loses title or possession, then NRS 11.080 cannot be the applicable statute of limitations to *this* case because Berberich has title and possession. A statute of limitations begins to run when the claim accrues, and a plaintiff cannot commence an action unless the claim has in fact accrued. *See* NRS 11.010 ("Civil actions can only be commenced *within* the periods prescribed in this chapter, *after the cause of action shall have accrued*, except where a different limitation is prescribed by statute.") (emphasis added).

If NRS 11.080 works as Berberich claims, his cause of action would have to be dismissed as non-justiciable because his cause of action has not accrued. This court's duty is not to render advisory opinions but, rather, to resolve actual controversies. *NCAA v. University of Nevada*, 97 Nev. 56, 57, 624 P.2d 10, 10 (1981); *see Capanna v. Orth*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 108, 432 P.3d 726, 735 (2018) (the court does "not have constitutional permission to render advisory opinions"); *Archon*

Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 101, 407 P.3d 702, 708-09 (2017) (advisory opinions on a "legal issue not properly raised and resolved in district court does not promote sound judicial economy and administration, because the issue comes to us with neither a complete record nor full development of the supposed novel and important legal issue to be resolved.").

By filing the complaint, Berberich admits he has a live controversy against BANA. If he has an accrued, justiciable controversy, then the claim has in fact accrued for purposes of NRS 11.010 and NRS 11.080. If he in fact is right that the clock has not started running, then he merely requested an advisory opinion and dismissal was proper for that reason. Berberich's complaint is barred by operation of NRS 11.080's five-year statute of limitations based on *Gray Eagle*.²

C. Stare Decisis Requires Reaffirmation of Blaha and Gray Eagles

1. NRS 11.080 Begins Running Against the Buyer on the Sale Date Stare decisis plays a critical role in our jurisprudence, especially when property rights are at stake. Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 828 (1991) ("[c]onsiderations of stare decisis are at their acme in cases involving property and

² This court has generally reversed *dictum* rulings where the case relied on is more than a year or two old. *See Boonsong Jitnan v. Oliver*, 127 Nev. 424, 434 n. 2, 254 P.3d 623, 630 n.2 (2011) (holding a case from 1909 was *dictum*); *Argentena Consol. Min. Co. v. Jolley Urga Wirth Woodbury & Standish*, 125 Nev. 527, 536, 216 P.3d 779, 785 (2009) (concluding a 1964 decision was *dictum*). It would be difficult to imagine this court calling its 2017 decision in *Gray Eagle dicta* in order to overrule itself two years later.

contract rights, where reliance interests are involved"); *Or. ex rel. State Land Board v. Corvallis Sand & Gravel Co.*, 429 U.S. 363, 381 (1977). "The reason for this is the special reliance that these decisions command-they become rules of property, and many titles may be injuriously affected by their change." *Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes v. Namen*, 665 F.2d 951, 960 (9th Cir. 1982) (quotations omitted); *see U.S. v. Milner*, 583 F.3d 1174, 1184 (9th Cir. 2009) (*stare decisis* applies with "special force" to decisions affecting title to land).

As the United States Supreme Court stated, "Where questions arise which affect titles to land it is of great importance to the public that when they are once decided they should no longer be considered open." Minn. Mining Co. v. Nat'l Mining Co., 70 U.S. 332, 334 (1865); United States v. Title Ins. Co., 265 U.S. 472, 486–87, (1923). As early as 1851, the Supreme Court explained "stare decisis is the safe and established rule of judicial policy, and should always be adhered to" when dealing with cases establishing rules of property. The Genesee Chief v. Fitzhugh, 53 U.S. 443, 458 (1851). This court has respected the special force of stare decisis when property rights and title are affected on multiple occasions. Jensen v. Reno Central Trades and Labor Council, 68 Nev. 269, 282, 229 P.2d 908, 914 (1951) (citing Minnesota Mining); Barstow v. Union Consol Silver-Min. Co., 10 Nev 386, 387 (1875) ("It is essential that there should be some stability in the decisions under which rights of property have been acquired.").

The doctrine is designed to promote stability, predictability, and certainty. *See Hubbard v. United States*, 514 U.S. 695, 720 (1995) (Rehnquist, J., dissenting); *Grotts v. Zahner*, 115 Nev. 339, 342, 989 P.2d 415, 417 (1999) (Rose, J., dissenting) (*stare decisis* not only plays an important role in orderly adjudication, it also serves the broader societal interests in evenhanded, consistent, and predictable application of legal rules (citing *Thomas v. Wash. Gas Light Co.*, 448 U.S. 261, 272, (1980))). Disregarding the doctrine creates confusion and uncertainty in the law, and could leave persons with property interests "in a state of wonderment." *D'Angelo v. Garner*, 107 Nev. 704, 754, 819 P.2d 206, 239 (1991) (Steffen, J., dissenting).

This court will not overturn precedent absent a compelling reason for doing so. *Miller v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579, 597, 188 P.3d 1112, 1124 (2008) (there was not a compelling reason to negate "the voters' decade-long expectation" regarding term limits). The party asking the court to disavow precedent must demonstrate prior decisions were clearly erroneous (i.e., the court manifestly abused its discretion). *Child v. Lomax*, 124 Nev. 600, 607, 188 P.3d 1103, 1108 (2008); *State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 127 Nev. 927, 932, 267 P.3d 777, 780 (2011) ("A manifest abuse of discretion is clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule." (quotation omitted)).

NRS 11.080 has been the statute of limitation for quiet title claims for decades.

In 1958, this court recognized NRS 11.080 as a five-year limitations statute for quiet

title actions. *Kerr v. Church*, 74 Nev. 264, 272, 329 P.2d 277, 281 (1958).³ The court verified this five-year statute in *Lanigir v. Arden*: "the applicable statute of limitation to a quiet title action is NRS 11.080. That statute specifies a 5-year limitation period." 82 Nev. 28, 36 n.3, 409 P.2d 891, 895 n.3 (1966). BANA and other lenders relied on this understanding of the law in setting its deadlines for filing suits for declaratory relief.

The five-year statute was applied again in 2012, reaffirming the expectation of lenders. *Wagontex, Inc. v. Estate of Chadwick*, No. A-11-640301-C, 2012 WL 12811795 (Nev. Dist. Ct. April 24, 2012). In *Wagontex*, a state trial court applied NRS 11.080 where the five-year clock began in 2004 but the quiet title action was not filed until 2012. *Id.* The court concluded the claim for quiet title was barred by the five-year statute of limitation. *Id.*

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and the federal district court for Nevada have also applied the five-year statute of limitation to quiet title claims. *Weeping Hollow Ave. Trust v. Spencer*, 831 F.3d 1110, 1114 (9th Cir. 2016); *Scott v. MERS*,

³ Berberich uses misleading ellipsis when discussing *Kerr* in his opening brief. In *Kerr*, this court held NRS 11.080 inapplicable because the plaintiff sought to nullify his deed on the account of fraud as opposed to seeking quiet title like here. 74 Nev. at 272, 329 P.2d at 277. The court cited a California case involving a similar quiet title statute and stated the statute is "limited to cases which involve the features of an action in ejectment or to quiet title and has no application to an action seeking to nullify the act procured by fraud or mistake." *Id.* The reason NRS 11.080 was inapplicable in *Kerr* has no relevance to this case.

605 Fed.Appx. 598, 600 (9th Cir. 2015); *U.S. Bank Home Mortg. v. Jensen*, 2018 WL 3078753, at *4 (D. Nev. June 20, 2018); *Federal National Mortg. Ass'n v. Kree, LLC*, 2018 WL 2697406, *2 (D. Nev. June 5, 2018); *Bank of America, N.A. v. Desert Canyon Homeowners Ass'n*, 2017 WL 4932912, at *2 (D. Nev. Oct. 31, 2017); *Goldsmith Enters., LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 2017 WL 4172266, at *3 (D. Nev. Sept. 20, 2017); *Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Falls at Hidden Canyon Homeowners Ass'n*, 2017 WL 2587926, at *3 (D. Nev. June 14, 2017); *U.S. Bank N.A. v. Woodland Village*, 2016 WL 7116016, at *3 (D. Nev. Dec. 6, 2016); *Bank of New York Mellon v. Jentz*, 2016 WL 4487841, * 3 (D. Nev. Aug. 24, 2016).

Unlike the buyers in *Blaha* and *Gray Eagle*, Berberich did not file his quiet title action within five years. He needed to sue, due to BANA's tender. Instead, he waited long enough to time himself out of a claim in the hope that he could apply NRS 11.070 to bar BANA's defense. The HOA foreclosed on the property on August 11, 2011 and Berberich did not file his complaint until January 31, 2018. Berberich's complaint, filed 2,365 days after the sale, is time-barred under NRS 11.080. The statute of limitation ran in August 2016. The court should affirm the district court's judgment based on NRS 11.080's five-year statute of limitation and the doctrine of *stare decisis*. *Blaha*, 416 P.3d at 237; *Gray Eagle*, 388 P.3d at 232.

2. The Court Should Make Clear NRS 11.080 Would Also Give Lenders at Least Five Years From the Sale Date to Sue

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